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An Archaeological Record 
This report provides a written and photographic record at English Heritage (2006) Level 2 of 
a redundant chapel and associated hall. The report has been prepared to a brief written by 
the Archaeological Service of Suffolk County Council (Dr Jess Tipper, 23 October 2008, Ref. 
/FormerUnitedReformChurch_Haughley2008) and is intended to fulfil a condition of 
planning permission for residential conversion partial demolition (Mid Suffolk District 
Council application 2202/08).    

Introduction
The following report is accompanied by a CD containing a full photographic record in the 
form of 50 8.2 megapixel digital images (Appendix 1) but also includes printed photographs 
of key features (Appendix 2). Each image is separately described in the report, and a white 
metre scale rod with centimetre sub-divisions was included wherever possible. The site was 
inspected on 1st December 2008.   

Summary
The redundant United Reform Church at Haughley was built in 1835 or 1843 as a daughter 
establishment of the Congregational Church in neighbouring Stowmarket (there is conflicting 
documentary evidence of the precise date). The chapel is set back from the medieval street 
frontage behind a small yard, but there is no evidence that it possessed a burial ground. 
Designed as a timber structure with a rendered exterior it was cased in red brick during the 
20th century and its original arched windows lost, but the northern entrance porch and 
panelled benches survive from its foundation. These benches are fine examples of their type, 
with raised tiers for children flanking the central entrance, but the building has been too 
heavily altered to merit listing. A small side-vestry was added to the simple rectangular hall in 
the mid-19th century, and replaced with the present example in 1995. A detached wooden hall 
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to the rear was built in 1932 to accommodate a Sunday school and other ancillary activities 
and is not of sufficient age or rarity to merit listing or retention.  

 Figure 1
Existing Ordnance Survey Site Plan  

Outlining the Chapel and attached vestry and showing Old Street to the north and the 
rectangular profile of Chapel Hall (1932) to the south

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Suffolk County Council Licence No. 100023395 2008

Historic Context: Documentary & Cartographic Record 
The redundant United Reform Church in Haughley lies on the southern side of Old Street, 
approximately 300 m south-east of the parish church of St Mary. The building is set back by 
13 m (43 ft) from the street frontage, as defined by a number of medieval listed buildings, 
behind a small yard. This yard is now open and laid to grass, but is shown enclosed by iron 
railings and containing what appear to be examples of topiary in an early-20th century 
photograph in the possession of the present owners (figure 5). It is possible that the yard 
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overlies the site of a demolished medieval property, and that archaeological evidence of early 
occupation may lie beneath.  
An ostensibly well-researched but unpublished ‘History of Haughley’ written in c.1967 by 
Revd. Nigel McCulloch states that the URC was founded in 1843 as a daughter church of the 
Congregational Church in neighbouring Stowmarket (extract in possession of present owners, 
and see ‘A Suffolk Bibliography’, SRS, 1979). In that year Mr William Prentice and eleven 
other men, members of the Stowmarket Chapel, were ‘dismissed to Haughley to found a 
church there’. McCulloch refers to a Sunday School held in 1835, and this may explain a 
contradictory statement in a typed notice pinned to the wall of the Chapel Hall at the time of 
inspection: ‘the Chapel was built in 1835 and was officially opened in September of that 
year’. A date of foundation appeared on a plaque on the northern gable prior to its re-facing in 
brick during the 20th century, and this may prove legible on the original of the photograph in 
figure 5 (which could not be traced for the purpose of this report).  

Figure 2 
Haughley Tithe Map of 1844, showing the layout of the town to the south of the castle 

motte, with detail of the ‘Chapel and Yard’ (no.16) beneath. Ipswich SRO 

4

overliesesesesesesesesesesese  t t t t t t t t  t tttthehehehehehehehehehehehehhehehehehheh  sitititititititiititittitttitititititttttttite eeee e eee ee e eeeee ofofofofofofofofofofoffffffofofffofofofooooo  a demolished medieval property, and that archaeological evidence of early 
occuuuuuuuuuuuuupapapapapapapapapappapapapapatitititititititititittttt onnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn mm m mmmm mmm mmmmmmmmmaaaaaayaaaaaaaaaaaaaa  lie beneath.  
AnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnAnnAnAnn oooo o o ooo oooooooooooosttttttttttttttttttttenenenenennenennnenennennnnnnne sisisisisisisisisissisisisis bbbbbbbblbbbb y well-researched but unpublished ‘History of Haughley’ written in c.1967 77777 7 77777 bybybybybybybybybybybbybbybybybybybbyyyybby 
RReReReReReReReRRReReRReRRRR vddvdvdvdvdvdvdvdvdvdvdvdddvdvdvdvdvdvvvv . ............. NNNNiNNNNNNNNNNNNNN gel McCulloch states that the URC was founded in 1843 as a daughter churchchchchchchchchchchhhhhhhchhhh ooo o o o oooo o oooooof fffff fff fff ffffff thththththththththththtthththe e eee e eee e e eee eeeeeeeeeee
CoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCoCCoCoooCoooooooCCoooooonnnngnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn regational Church in neighbouring Stowmarket (extract in possession of preseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeentntntntntntntntnntntntntnnntnnt o o o o ooooooownwnwnwnwnwnwnwnwnwnnwnwnwnwnwnwnwwwwwwwnerererererererererererrrrrrrrerre s,s,s,s,s,s,s,s,s,s,ss,sssssssss,ssssssssss  
aaaanaaaaaaaaa d see ‘A Suffolk Bibliography’, SRS, 1979). In that year Mr William Prentitiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicecececececececeecececcecececcceeecececccccc  aaaaaaaaaaanddndndndndndndddddddd e e e e e eee e e e e ee e eeelelelelelelelelelelelelelelelellll ven 
other men, members of the Stowmarket Chapel, were ‘dismissed to Hauuuuuuuuuuuuuughghghghghghghghghghghhhghghghghghgg lelelelelelelellelelelelelellel y yyyyyyyy tototototototototototottotototttottottto f ff f ffff fffffffound a 
church there’. McCulloch refers to a Sunday School held in 1835, and thiiiiiiiiiiis mamamamamamamamamamamamamammmamammmmmayyyyy yyyyyyyy explain a 
contradictory statement in a typed notice pinned to the wall of the Chapel Halllllllllllllllllllll at the time of 
inspection: ‘the Chapel was built in 1835 and was officially opened in September of that 
year’. A date of foundation appeared on a plaque on the northern gable prior to its re-facing in 
brick during the 20th century, and this may prove legible on the original of the photograph in
figure 5 (which could not be traced for the purpose of this report).  

Figure 2 
Haughley Tithe Map of 1844, showing the layout of the town to the south of the castle 

motttttte,e,e,e,ee,e,e,e,e,e,eeee,eeeeeeeeeeeee, with detail of the ‘Chapel and Yard’ (no.16) beneath. Ipswich SRO 

4



Figure 3 
First Edition 25 inch Ordnance Survey (1886) 
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Figure 3 
First Edition 25 inch Ordnance Survey (1886) 
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Figure 4 
Second Edition 25 inch Ordnance Survey (1905) 

The Haughley tithe map (figure 2) shows the square outline of the chapel (ostensibly without 
its porch), but dates from 1844 and does not contribute to the local debate over its year of 
construction. The accompanying apportionment describes the property (no. 16) as a ‘Chapel 
and yard’ owned by William Prentice along with the two adjoining cottages and gardens (nos. 
15 and 17); the three properties were occupied by ‘Charles Burrs and others’. No earlier 
detailed maps of Haughley village are known. The first and second edition Ordnance Surveys 
(figures 3 and 4) show a similar situation, but the porch is clearly defined and the smaller 
predecessor of the present vestry is shown attached to the southern end of the eastern 
elevation. The ‘W’ in the front yard refers to a well of which no trace is now apparent.   
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Figure 5 
The northern gable in an old photograph  

(from a copy in the possession of the present owners) 

The photograph above probably shows the building in its original condition, with a rendered 
exterior, arched windows and a circular cartouche containing its (illegible) date of foundation. 
This elegant façade was provided with a skin of red brick during the 20th century and its 
windows replaced, leaving only the porch in situ. The wooden hall used for Sunday School 
and other ancillary functions and known as the ‘Chapel Hall’ was erected in 1932, according 
to the aforementioned note pinned to its notice board (entitled simply ‘Haughley Chapel 
2000’). The same note dates the eastern brick extension to 1995, when it replaced an earlier 
Chapel vestry and included a kitchen, toilet and new vestry. The building became part of the 
United Reform Church when the ‘Presbyterian Church of England’ and the ‘Congregational 
Church of England and Wales’ amalgamated in 1972, but was recently sold for residential 
conversion. The Congregational church derived from the Protestant Nonconformist tradition, 
and was based on a theory of union published by the theologian Robert Browne in 1592.  

There is no record of burials at Haughley, and members of the congregation were probably 
interred at Stowmarket. The presence of a short-lived burial ground beneath the northern yard 
cannot be ruled out, however.  

Building Analysis 

Chapel

The original chapel of 1843 or 1835 formed a simple rectangular hall with a central entrance 
in its northern gable and extended internally to 11.75 m in depth by 6.25 m in width (38.5 ft 
by 26.5). Its walls rose to 5.1 m in height (17 ft) at the eaves and consisted of softwood studs 
on a tall plinth of flint rubble with dressings of red brick (1 m in height). A rendered 
horizontal ceiling of tall-sectioned softwood joists concealed the low-pitched rafters and the 
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wall fabric was clad in lath-and-plaster both inside and out. The original external plaster and 
arched windows shown in figure 5 were removed in the 1930s or 40s when the present 
rectangular window apertures were inserted and the existing four-inch skin of red brick 
applied. A small vestry was added between 1844 and 1886, as shown by figures 2 and 3, but 
this was replaced by the present eastern extension in 1995. The door to the earlier vestry at 
the southern end of the eastern elevation remains in use, and the shallow, flat-roofed northern 
porch with a decorative eaves board probably survives from the original building. The porch 
door is shown in figure 5 and is also probably original.  

Given its much-altered external appearance, the building does not merit listing but is of 
considerable historic interest due to the survival of its internal fittings. The painted benches 
with panelled and chamfered backs and square ends which adjoin the eastern and western 
elevation, (facing a 20th century reading desk or platform in the centre of the southern gable) 
are fine examples of their type. Tiers of benches without backs flank the internal entrance 
porch and seem to have been designed for children given their relatively low height. Each tier 
was provided with a small cross-bench to serve as a table (one of which contained toys at the 
time of inspection). The side walls are protected with pine wainscot to a height of 1.4 m (56 
ins), but this may have been renewed.  

Chapel Hall

A single-storied wooden shed with boarded interior and exterior is aligned on an 
approximately east-west axis at right-angles to the Chapel and 3.3 m (11 ft) from its rear 
gable. This structure, which extends to 10.4 m in length by 4.5 m in width (34 ft by 15), was 
built in 1932 according to the information sheet on its notice board. It contains an entrance 
door at both ends of its southern elevation, and an area 1.5 m in length at its western gable can 
be partitioned by a sliding screen to form a separate compartment. This hall was designed to 
accommodate Sunday schools and other ancillary activities, and is not of sufficient age or 
rarity to merit listing or retention.  

Appendix 1 (on accompanying CD): Full Photographic Record 

Description of Photographs in Appendix 1 

Photograph no. 

1. General view of Old Street from east showing Chapel on left & St Mary's Church 
to right.  
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ththththththththhthththththththhhhthhhhhhhhisisisisisisisisisisisisisiisisisssissisisiississ w     as replaced by the present eastern extension in 1995. The door to the earliererererererererererererereereeeeeeereeeer v v v v v vvvv veeeeeeseeeee trtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtttttttrtttry yyyy y y y yy yy yy y yyy atatatatatatatatatatataaataaaaaaaataaaaaaaaa  
thththththththhtthtttt e southern end of the eastern elevation remains in use, and the shallow, flat-rooooooooooooooooooooooooooooofofofofofofoofofofofofofofofofofofofoooooooofedededededededededededededededeee  nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnorororororororororororororoorooooorthththththththththththhthththttttt ern 
porch with a decorative eaves board probably survives from the original buiuiuiuiuiuiuiiuiuiuiuiuiuiuuiildldldldldldldldldldldddldlddlddldinininininininininininininiii g.g.g.g..g.g.g..g.g.g.g.g.g..g  T TT T T T T TTTTT TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTThehhhhhehhhehhhhhhhhh  porch 
door is shown in figure 5 and is also probably original.  

Given its much-altered external appearance, the building does not merit listing but is of 
considerable historic interest due to the survival of its internal fittings. The painted benches 
with panelled and chamfered backs and square ends which adjoin the eastern and western 
elevation, (facing a 20th century reading desk or platform in the centre of the southern gable) 
are fine examples of their type. Tiers of benches without backs flank the internal entrance 
porch and seem to have been designed for children given their relatively low height. Each tier 
was provided with a small cross-bench to serve as a table (one of which contained toys at the 
time of inspection). The side walls are protected with pine wainscot to a height of 1.4 m (56 
ins), but this may have been renewed.  

Chapel Hall

A single-storied wooden shed with boarded inteririririiiiiiriiriiiiiriiiorororororororoorororororoorrororoooo  a andnnnnnnnnnn  exterior is aligned on an
approximately east-west axis at right-angles to thhhhhhhhhhhhhhe e e e e e e e ee e e ChChChChChChChChhChChhChChChChChChChhhhhhapapapapapapapappappapapapappppelelelelellelellelelelelelelelellllel a a aa aaaa a nd 3.3 m (11 ft) from its rear 
gable. This structure, which extends to 10.4 m iiiiiiiiiiinnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn l l lll l lllllllleneneneneneneneneneenee gtgtgtgtgtgttgtgtgtgtgtgtgtgttgtgttgtgtggggg h h h h h h hhh h hhhh h hhhhhhhhhhh bybybybybbybybybybbybybybbbbbbbbbbbbbbb  4.5 m in width (34 ft by 15), was 
built in 1932 according to the information sssssssssheheheheheheheheheheheheeheheheheheheheheeteteteeteteetetetetetettttttettteee  onoonononononononoonnonoonooononno  iiiiiiiiiiiiiiitststttttstttttt  notice board. It contains an entrance 
door at both ends of its southern elevatiooooooooooon,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,n,nn,, a aaaa a a aa a a aaaa a aandndndndndndndnndnndndnddddnd anananananananananananananaanananaaaaananananaaaa aa aa a a aaaaa aa aa aaa aaaaa aaarer a 1.5 m in length at its western gable can 
be partitioned by a sliding screen to fofofofofofofofoofofofofofofofofofffffffffformrmrrmrmrmrmrmrmrmrmmrrmmrrrm a a aa aa aaaaaaaaaaaa s ss s s s s s ss sssss ssepepepepepepepeppepepeppepppeppeepepepepeppepepepepppaaaaraaaaaaa ate compartment. This hall was designed to 
accommodate Sunday schools andndddddddndndddnddddddddddddddddddd o oo o ooo o o oo oooooo oooththththththththththttthththerrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr a a a a a aa a aaaa aaaa  nnnnnncnnnnnnnnnnnnn illary activities, and is not of sufficient age or 
rarity to merit listing or retentionononononoonononoonononononoon. . .. .  

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAApppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppeeeeeeeendix 1 (on accompanying CD): Full Photographic Record 

DDDDDDeDDDDD scription of Photographs in Appendix 1 

Photograph no. 

1. General view of Old Street from east showing Chapel on left & St Mary's Church 
to right.  
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2. General view of site from Old Street to north.  

3. General view of site from south showing length of plot with Chapel Hall in 
foreground. 

4. Front yard from Old Street to north. 

5. Front yard from north-east showing Chapel notice board. 

6. Front yard from south-east showing Chapel facade to left and Old Street to right. 

7. Northern facade of Chapel from front yard to north, showing original porch with 
later brickwork. 

8. Original northern porch from north-west. 

9. Detail of original northern porch showing eaves board with later brick cladding to 
right.

10. Detail of northern gable showing scar of demolished wall or gate to left. 

11. Eastern elevation of Chapel from north-east, showing modern side vestry to left. 

12. Eastern elevation of Chapel showing window blocked by vestry to left. 

13. Detail of secondary brick skin to eastern external elevation of Chapel. 

14. Northern elevation of modern vestry (built 1995) from east. 

15. Rear elevation of Chapel from south-west showing western elevation to left. 

16. Rear elevation of chapel from south-east showing proximity of Chapel Hall to 
left.

17. Detail of flint plinth to rear elevation of Chapel showing modern vestry to right. 

18. Southern elevation of Chapel Hall from south-west showing rear gable of Chapel 
to left. 

19. Southern elevation of Chapel Hall from south-east showing modern vestry to 
right.

20. Northern elevation of Chapel Hall from north-west showing entrance doors to 
right and left. 

21. Northern elevation of Chapel Hall from north-east. 

22. Entrance door at western end of Chapel Hall's northern elevation. 

23. Interior of Chapel Hall from east. 

24. Interior of Chapel Hall from west. 

25. Interior of Chapel Hall showing sliding screen at western end. 
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2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.222 GeGGeGeGeGGeGeGeGeGeGeGeGeGeGGGGGGG neral view of site from Old Street to north. 

3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.3.33.33.333333. General view of site from south showing length of plot with Chapel Hall inininininninnnnnn 
foreground. 

4. Front yard from Old Street to north. 

5. Front yard from north-east showing Chapel notice board. 

6. Front yard from south-east showing Chapel facade to left and Old Street to right. 

7. Northern facade of Chapel from front yard to north, showing original porch with
later brickwork. 

8. Original northern porch from north-west. 

9. Detail of original northern porch showing eaves board with later brick cladding to 
right.

10. Detail of northern gable showing scar of demololollololollolololloolllollllolllolisiisisisisiiiisisisiiished wall or gate to left.

11. Eastern elevation of Chapel from northhhhhhhhhhhhh-e-e-e-e-e-e-e-ee-eee-e-e-e- asasasasasasasasasasasassasasast,tttttttttttttttttttt  sssssssshohohohohohhohohhohohohohohohohohohhhhhhoohhhowiwiwiwiwiwwwiwwwwwwiww ng modern side vestry to left. 

12. Eastern elevation of Chapel showwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwininininininininininininninininininnining gggggggggggggggggg wiwiwiwiwiwiwiiwiwiiwiiwiwiwiwwwwwwiwwwindndndndndndndndnddndnddndddddddooowoooooo  blocked by vestry to left. 

13. Detail of secondary brick kkk k kkkkkkkkkkk skskskskskskskskskskskskskskkskskkskkkininiiininininn ttttt ttt ttttto ooo oo o o ooooo oooooo eaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaaeaeaeaaaaaaaeeaaaaaaaeaaeaeaasssstssssssssssssss ern external elevation of Chapel. 

14. Northern elevationnnnnnnnnnnnnnn o o o o o oo oo oo o oof fff ff fff ffff f ffff momomomomomomomoomomomommomomooodedededededededededededededdeddddeddddddddddd rnrnrnrnrnrrnrnrnrnrrrrrr  vestry (built 1995) from east. 

15. Rear elevation of Chapapaapapaaapapa el from south-west showing western elevation to left. 

16. Rear elevation of chapel from south-east showing proximity of Chapel Hall to t
left.

17. Detail of flint plinth to rear elevation of Chapel showing modern vestry to right.f

18. Southern elevation of Chapel Hall from south-west showing rear gable of Chapel 
to left. 

19. Southern elevation of Chapel Hall from south-east showing modern vestry to 
riiighggggggggggggg t.

20. NoNoNoNoNoNoNooNoNoNoNoNoNoNooooNooNoooNoN rtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrttrtrtrtrtrr hehhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhh rn elevation of Chapel Hall from north-west showing entrance doors to
riririririririririririrr ghghghghghghghghghghghghghgggggg t and left.

21212121212121221212121212222121221. Northern elevation of Chapel Hall from north-east. 

22. Entrance door at western end of Chapel Hall's northern elevation.

23. Interior of Chapel Hall from east. 

24. Interior of Chapel Hall from west. 

25. Interior of Chapel Hall showing sliding screen at western end. 
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26. Interior of Chapel Hall showing western entrance with screen to right. 

27. Interior of Chapel Hall showing eastern entrance door. 

28. Interior of Chapel Hall showing detail of roof structure from east. 

29. General view of interior of Chapel from south showing original entrance. 

30. General view of interior of Chapel from north showing reading desk opposite 
original entrance. 

31. Detail of reading desk from north. 

32. Detail of reading desk from east. 

33. Detail of internal porch and raised benches against northern elevation. 

34. General view of interior of western elevation. 

35. General view of interior of eastern elevation showing vestry entrance to right. 

36. View of benches to western elevation. 

37. Detail of square bench ends to western elevation. 

38. Detail of boarded bench backs to western elevation (from south). 

39. Detail of boarded bench backs to eastern elevation (from north). 

40. View of benches to eastern elevation. 

41. Entrance to raised benches in north-western corner. 

42. Detail of raised benches in north-western corner (from east). 

43. Detail of table-bench in north-western corner. 

44. Internal entrance porch seen from raised benches to west. 

45. Detail of boarded side of raised benches in north-western corner (from west). 

46. Detail of table-bench in north-eastern corner showing contents as found. 

47. Detail of original tall-sectioned ceiling joists and roof structure from south. 

48. Detail of flint plinth and studwork to interior of eastern elevation with vestry door 
to right. 

49. Detail of studwork and laths with later brickwork to northern gable (inner porch 
to left). 

50. Detail of flint plinth to interior of western elevation. 
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266262626262626262626262626266......... InInInInInInInInInInInInInInInnnnnnnnntetttttttt rior of Chapel Hall showing western entrance with screen to right. 

27272727272727272727277277272772727772727227777. Interior of Chapel Hall showing eastern entrance door. 

28. Interior of Chapel Hall showing detail of roof structure from east. 

29. General view of interior of Chapel from south showing original enttttttttttttttttttttttrarararararaararararararaararararaaancnncncncncncncncncncncnnncnnn e. 

30. General view of interior of Chapel from north showing reading desk opposite 
original entrance. 

31. Detail of reading desk from north. 

32. Detail of reading desk from east. 

33. Detail of internal porch and raised benches against northern elevation. 

34. General view of interior of western elevation. 

35. General view of interior of eastern elevation shhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhooooooowooooooo ing vestry entrance to right. 

36. View of benches to western elevation. 

37. Detail of square bench ends to wesesesesesesesesesesesesesesseessestetetetetetetetetetteteteteteteteeteeett rnrnrnrnrnrnrnrnrnrnnrnrrrrrrrrrnn ee e eeeeeeeeeleleleleleleleleeeleleleeeeeeevvvvavvvvvvv tion. 

38. Detail of boarded bench babababababababaabababababababababbbbbbbbbbackckckckckckckckckckkcckcccccccc ss ssss totototototototototototototottotoo w w w w w w ww www wwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwweeeeeseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee tern elevation (from south). 

39. Detail of boarded bebebebebebebebebebebebebebebebbencncncncncncncncncnncncnccnccnccn hhhh hhhhhhhhhhhhhhh bababababababababababababbabbbabaaababbababbababbbackckckckckckckcckckckckkckckcks to eastern elevation (from north). 

40. View of benches to easaaaaaaaaa tern elevation.

41. Entrance to raised benches in north-western corner. 

42. Detail of raised benches in north-western corner (from east). 

43. Detail of table-bench in north-western corner. 

44. Internal entrance porch seen from raised benches to west. 

45. Detail of boarded side of raised benches in north-western corner (from west). 

46. DeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDeDDDDDDDDDDD tail of table-bench in north-eastern corner showing contents as found. rr

474747474747474747447444747.......... DeDeDeDeDeDeDDeDeDeeDeDeDeDDeDeD tttail of original tall-sectioned ceiling joists and roof structure from south. 

484848484848484848484848484444848448. Detail of flint plinth and studwork to interior of eastern elevation with vesssssssssstrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtry y y y y y y yyy y yyyyyy dodododododododododododdododdododdoddd orororororororororororororrororrooooorr tt
to right. 

49. Detail of studwork and laths with later brickwork to northern gaaaaaaaaaaaaaaablblblblblblblblblblblblblblbbb eee eee e e ee eeeeee (i(i(i(i(i(i(i(i(i((iinnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnerereerererererererererererererereeeeeer pppppppppppporch 
to left). 

50. Detail of flint plinth to interior of western elevation. 
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Appendix 2 (pp. 11-15): Selected Printed Photographs 
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AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAppendix 2 (pp. 11-15): Selected Printed Photographs 
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A2.1   General view of Old Street from east showing Chapel behind street frontage on left 
& St Mary's Church in distance to right 

A2.2  Front yard from Old Street to north showing relationship to adjacent properties

12

A2.1   General view of Old Street from eassssssssssssst ttt t t tt t tttttttttttttt t t ttttt shshshshshshshshshsshshshss owowowowowowowowowowwowwwoo ininininininininininiininininiiiniiniiiniiingggggg ggggggggggggg Chapel behind street frontage on left 
& St Mary's ChChChChChChChChChChChChhChhChChhhurururururururururuururururrurrrrruruuuuu chchchchchchchchchchchchch iiii ii iiii iiiiiiiin nnn n n nnnnnnnnnnnnn dididddididistance to right 

A2.2  Front yard from Old Street to north showing relationship to adjacent properties
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A2.3   Detail of original northern door and porch of 1843 showing decorated eaves board 
with early-20th century brick cladding  

A2.4  Southern elevation of Chapel Hall from south-west showing rear gable of Chapel to 
left

13

A2.3   Detail of original northern ddddddddddddddddddooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooor rrrrrrrrrrrrrrr andndndndndndndndndndddddnddd p pp pp p p pp p p p pp ppporch of 1843 showing decorated eaves board 
withhhhhhhhhhhhh eee eee eeeeeeeeeeee ee eararararararararararararaarararararlylylylylylylylylylylylyylyl -222222220000000000000000000000ththththththththththhhhththhtthth cccccc cccccentury brick cladding  

A2.4  Southern elevation of Chapel Hall from south-west showing rear gable of Chapel to 
left
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A2.5   Interior of Chapel Hall of 1932 from west 

A2.6   General view of interior of Chapel from south showing original northern entrance with 
internal porch

14

A2.5   Interior ofofofofofofofofooffofoffffofofofofoof C CCCC C CC C CCC CCCCChahahahahahhahahhahapepepepepepepepepepeppeepepepepel l l ll l ll lll lll HaHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHH ll of 1932 from west 

A2.6   General view of interior of Chapel from south showing original northern entrance with 
internal porch
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A2.7  General view of interior of Chapel from north showing reading desk opposite original 
entrance with blocked window and door to vestry of 1995 on left

A2.8   Detail of internal porch and raised benches against northern elevation 

15

A2.7  General view of interior of Chapapapapapapapapapapapapapappapappeleleleleleleleleleleleeleele  ff f fff fff ffffffroooooom mm m mmm mm mm mmmmm nonononnnnonononnnnnnn rth showing reading desk opposite original 
entrance with blockeeeeekekekeeeeeeekeekeeeeeeeeed dd d d d dd d dd d ddddddd wiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiww ndndndndndndndddowowowowowowowowowowowowowwowowowowoooow a aand door to vestry of 1995 on left

A2.8   Detail of internal porch and raised benches against northern elevation 
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A2.9   Detail of chamfered boarded bench backs to western elevation (from south)

A2.10   Detail of flint plinth and studwork to interior of eastern elevation with vestry door to 
right
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A2.9   Detail of chamfered boarddddddddddddddededededededededededededddededededee  bbb bb b bbbb bbbbbbbbbennnnnnnnnncccccccccccccch h h hhh h h hhhhhhhhhhh bababbabbbababababbababb cks to western elevation (from south)

A2.10   Detail of flint plinth and studwork to interior of eastern elevation with vestry door to 
right

16


